Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Maturitas



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/maturitas

Review Calcium supplementation: Balancing the cardiovascular risks[☆]

Ian R. Reid*, Mark J. Bolland, Philip N. Sambrook, Andrew Grey

Department of Medicine, Faculty of Medical and Health Sciences, University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 21 April 2011 Accepted 27 April 2011

Keywords: Osteoporosis Mineral supplements Nutrition

ABSTRACT

Calcium supplementation has been widely accepted as a key strategy in the prevention and treatment of osteoporosis. Its role has been undermined, to some extent, by its disappointing effects on fracture in randomised controlled trials, but its use has continued to be encouraged on the grounds that it is physiologically appealing, and is unlikely to cause harm. The latter assumption is now under threat from accumulating evidence that calcium supplement use is associated with an increased risk of myocardial infarction and, possibly, stroke. The latest data, based on meta-analysis of trials involving 29,000 participants, indicate that this risk is not mitigated by co-administration of vitamin D, and that the number of cardiovascular events caused is likely to be greater than the number of fractures prevented. These findings indicate that calcium supplementation probably does not have a role as a routine preventative agent and that dietary advice is the appropriate way to attain an adequate calcium intake in most situations. Patients at high risk of fracture need to take interventions of proven anti-fracture efficacy. Available evidence suggests that this efficacy is not dependent on the co-administration of calcium supplements. © 2011 Elsevier Ireland Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	289				
2.	. How important is calcium for bone health?					
3.	Calcium supplement effects on vascular endpoints	290				
	3.1. Calcium monotherapy	290				
	3.2. Calcium with vitamin D	292				
	3.3. Recent studies	292				
	3.4. Mechanisms of the calcium effect	294				
4.	Conclusion	294				
Contributors						
	Conflict of interests	294				
	Provenance and peer review	295				
	References	295				

1. Introduction

Calcium supplements have been regarded as a cornerstone of the prevention and treatment of osteoporosis, over the last 50 years. Calcium supplements have been promoted on the grounds that calcium is a major constituent of the skeleton, so more calcium should lead to a stronger skeleton. This paradigm treats the skeleton as being akin to a stalagmite in a limestone cave, expected to

E-mail address: i.reid@auckland.ac.nz (I.R. Reid).

grow more rapidly if we drip more calcium-rich fluid onto it. This ignores the reality that bone is a collagen-based connective tissue and that bone mass is determined by the balance between the activity of the bone forming cells (osteoblasts) and that of bone resorbing osteoclasts. While substrate deficiency would be expected to have a negative impact on bone mass, oversupply of calcium should not, ipso facto, be expected to increase the bone mass.

In the last 20 years a solid evidence base has been built describing the skeletal effects of calcium, both through bone density measurements and through assessments of fracture risk. While beneficial effects have been found, they have been relatively modest, and low compliance has been a consistent feature of the large scale studies of calcium supplementation. Many physicians have continued to encourage calcium use on the grounds that it *should* be beneficial and there is no reason to think it does any harm. The lat-



 $[\]stackrel{\text{tr}}{\Rightarrow}$ Supported by the Health Research Council of New Zealand.

^{*} Corresponding author at: Faculty of Medical and Health Sciences, University of Auckland, Private Bag 92019, Auckland, New Zealand. Tel.: +64 9 373 7599x86259; fax: +64 9 308 2308.

^{0378-5122/\$ –} see front matter ${\ensuremath{\mathbb C}}$ 2011 Elsevier Ireland Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.maturitas.2011.04.014

ter assumption is now called into doubt by accumulating evidence that calcium supplement use increases the risk of cardiovascular disease. This suggestion requires that we carefully consider the balance of risk and benefit with calcium supplement use, as we would with any pharmaceutical intervention.

2. How important is calcium for bone health?

Very low calcium intakes have been associated with impaired mineralisation of the skeleton because the critical calcium-phosphate product is not reached adjacent to the mineralising osteoid [1]. However, most studies have shown remarkably little correlation between dietary calcium intake and either bone density [2–4] or fracture rates [5,6] (Fig. 1). Indeed, some of the lowest fracture rates internationally are observed in Africa and Asia, where dietary calcium intakes of 300 mg/day or less are commonplace, suggesting that genetic and other lifestyle influences play a much more important role in skeletal health.

There is now a large body of data from randomised, controlled trials that mainly assesses the value of calcium supplements, since trialling food interventions is more challenging and not able to be blinded. Most of these studies have assessed an intervention of about 1000 mg/day calcium, and most have shown that this has small but statistically significant beneficial effects on bone density [7]. For example, our recent assessment of 1 g/day compared with placebo over five years, showed a reduction in the rate of bone loss at the total hip of 36% in the intention-to-treat analysis, and 68% in the per protocol analysis [8]. The difference between these two analyses highlights a major problem with calcium supplements-that of compliance. In spite of these highly significant effects on bone loss, this study did not provide consistent evidence of anti-fracture efficacy, and this has been the general finding [7]. Most large studies show small beneficial trends in fracture risk, with the exception of the Chapuy study [9], which showed substantial reduction in total fracture numbers. This trial used an intervention of calcium plus vitamin D in a population of institutionalized elderly women, markedly deficient in both. Meta-analyses of trials of calcium alone, or calcium and vitamin D co-administration, suggest that the relative risk of any fracture is reduced by 10-13% [7,10].

However, meta-analysis of trials of calcium supplements show a significant *increase* in hip fracture risk in those randomised to calcium alone, though a decrease from the use of calcium plus vitamin D (again dominated by the Chapuy study), and no effect overall [5,11,12]. Since hip fractures contribute the greatest morbidity and cost of any osteoporotic fracture, and since they are also associated with a substantial increase in mortality, the failure of calcium supplementation to reduce this fracture type represents a critical issue. Thus, it is not clearly established that calcium supplements as monotherapy produce a clinically significant benefit to the skeleton, since their effects on total fracture numbers are marginal and their effect on the most important fracture have not been demonstrated.

The Tang meta-analysis also documented the frequency of poor compliance with calcium supplements, most trials having a compliance of <60%. There was no reduction in fracture risk in trials with poor compliance (relative risk 0.96 [0.91–1.01]). This problem of compliance is probably related to the size of calcium tablets and to the gastrointestinal side-effects associated with their use [8]. Because of this, it is important to consider the effects of smaller doses of calcium on bone density, since this is often what patients will be receiving, whatever is prescribed. We have recently examined this in men and found no hint of a bone density benefit from the use of 600 mg/day of calcium, in contrast to a clear beneficial effect from twice that dose [13] (Fig. 2). Dawson-Hughes studied a calcium dose of 500 mg/day and found that this was effective in men, but not in women [14]. The possibility of substantially lower efficacy with lower supplement doses, and the difficulty the trial subjects have in sustaining regular supplement intakes long-term, might account for the disappointing anti-fracture efficacy of this intervention. Calcium is an anti-resorptive of lower potency than raloxifene [15], and it effect on non-vertebral fractures is entirely consistent with this.

3. Calcium supplement effects on vascular endpoints

3.1. Calcium monotherapy

During the period that trials have been undertaken to determine the skeletal effects of calcium supplements, there has also been interest in the possibility that calcium supplements might have an impact on vascular disease. The outcome most frequently studied is blood pressure, where a consistent body of evidence has developed showing small reductions in both systolic and diastolic pressures from the introduction of calcium supplements [16–18]. There have also been reports that calcium supplements either reduce total cholesterol or have a beneficial effect on the HDL/LDL cholesterol ratio [19,20]. These trial findings, together with observational data showing reduced cardiovascular mortality in hard water areas [21] and in individuals with high calcium intakes [22,23] prompted us to pre-specify myocardial infarction and stroke as secondary endpoints in the Auckland Calcium Study, a randomised, controlled trial of 1500 postmenopausal women over five years. Contrary to our hypothesis, we found increases in both these events, which were significant for self-reported myocardial infarction (relative risk 2.12, 95% confidence interval [CI] 1.01, 4.47) [24]. Because of the potential significance of this finding, all myocardial infarction, stroke and sudden death events, including additional events identified after a search of the national database of hospital admissions, were adjudicated by physicians blinded to treatment allocation. After adjudication, the relative risk of myocardial infarction in the calcium group was 1.49 (0.86, 2.57), rate ratio 1.67 (0.98, 2.87). The rate ratio for the composite of myocardial infarction, stroke and sudden death was 1.43 (1.01, 2.04). These data were not definitive, but provided a worrying signal of cardiovascular harm. The publication of this work in 2008 led to much controversy and, in some circles, disbelief that such a widely used intervention could have such an important, unrecognized adverse effect. Such a situation can certainly arise with a non-pharmaceutical intervention, since these agents are not subjected to the rigorous, pre-registration safety assessments. This probably represents a fault in the current system, since any biologically active agent can have off-target effects (beneficial or detrimental) and these will not be detected unless a comprehensive assessment of treatment outcomes is routinely put in place.

To determine whether the adverse cardiovascular findings from the Auckland Calcium Study were present in other trials, we undertook a meta-analysis of cardiovascular events, from all published, randomised, controlled trials of calcium supplementation [25]. Because cardiovascular events were not pre-specified endpoints of most of these studies, we used the adverse event databases to identify these events. In most trials, cardiovascular events were based on participant reports, death certificates (60% of MI, and 46% of strokes in the largest contributing trial), or records from their general practitioners, and were not formally adjudicated. This may introduce noise into the data, but because the trials were blinded and randomised, it will not introduce bias. Thus, it will militate against finding an adverse effect, rather than creating a spurious positive finding. Using a protocol agreed by the contributing authors prior to trial data being provided, we pooled individual



Fig. 1. Cross-sectional associations between dietary calcium intake and total hip bone mineral density (upper panel) and hip fracture risk in women. The data in the upper panel are from 4958 women aged > 20 years surveyed in NHANES III, and are stratified by serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels. For each vitamin D category, bone density is shown for quartiles of dietary calcium intake. The lower panel shows relative risk of hip fracture according to calcium intake in a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies involving 170,991 women. No association was apparent.

Figures are from the studies of Bischoff-Ferrari et al. [3,5], used with permission.

patient data from five trials (comprising 8151 participants) and trial-level data from 11 trials (comprising 11,921 participants, the latter figure representing 93% of all trial subjects identified from our literature search—adverse event data were not available in

the remaining 7%). In the individual patient analysis, 143 people allocated to calcium had a myocardial infarction during the median follow-up time of 3.6 years, compared with 111 allocated to placebo. The hazard ratio for incident myocardial infarction as 1.31



Fig. 2. Effects of calcium supplementation on bone mineral density (BMD) in normal older men. There were significant treatment effects at both sites, but only between the high-dose group (1200 mg/day) and the others, not between 600 mg/day and placebo. From Reid et al. [13].

(95%CI, 1.02, 1.67, P = 0.035) in those allocated to calcium. The comparable data for stroke were 167 people allocated to calcium and 143 allocated to placebo, producing a hazard ratio of 1.20 (95%CI, 0.96, 1.50, P = 0.11). From these data it can be calculated that the number needed to treat with calcium for five years to cause one incident event was 69 for myocardial infarction, 100 for stroke, and 61 for any of myocardial infarction, stroke or sudden death. These same studies show a hazard ratio for fracture of 0.90 (95%CI, 0.80–1.01) and a number needed to treat of 39. Thus, treatment of 1000 people with calcium for five years would cause an additional 14 myocardial infarctions and 10 strokes, and prevent 26 fractures. Trial level analyses produced similar findings with a relative risk of myocardial infarction of 1.27 (95%CI, 1.01, 1.59, P=0.038) and that for stroke of 1.12 (95%CI, 0.92, 1.36, P=0.25).

Two aspects of these analyses deserve comment. The Kaplan-Meier plots for myocardial infarction show an increase in event rate in the calcium group within the first year of the study with a further divergence of the groups subsequently. In contrast, the trend towards a between-groups difference for stroke emerges only after one year. These apparent differences may give insight into the pathogenesis of the calcium effects. For instance, effects on platelet function or other aspects of coagulation, on vascular reactivity or the stability of atherosclerotic plaques could all produce an early effect, whereas acceleration of vessel wall calcification would be expected to proceed more slowly. An important point to draw from the trial level analyses is the consistency of the direction and magnitude of the adverse effects across the major trials studied, irrespective of the means by which the cardiovascular events were ascertained. Meta-analyses of controlled trials with homogeneity of outcomes are regarded as the highest level of evidence in the hierarchy of evidence-based medicine.

3.2. Calcium with vitamin D

The finding that calcium monotherapy increases risk of myocardial infarction prompted interest in the cardiovascular effects of calcium and vitamin D co-administration, which is commonly prescribed for skeletal health. One other study of calcium supplementation to pre-specify cardiovascular events and to adjudicate these events, is the Women's Health Initiative (WHI). These data have been published [26] and do not appear to show adverse effects, though there is some heterogeneity in the subgroup analyses and a significant interaction between treatment allocation and BMI, such that calcium with vitamin D has a more adverse affect on vascular risk in non-obese subjects. The most obvious reason for the WHI to produce a different outcome from our meta-analysis is that a different intervention was studied-calcium with vitamin D. However, while vitamin D has been suggested to be vasculo-protective, it is not clear how it would specifically antagonise the adverse effects of calcium on blood vessels so it would be expected that individuals taking calcium with vitamin D could still be at higher vascular risk than those taking vitamin D alone. The WHI population is younger and more obese than that in our meta-analysis and both these factors could contribute to the different outcome.

A further unique feature of the WHI is that study participants were permitted to enter the study even if they were self-administering calcium supplements—at baseline 54% were. Therefore, in the majority of participants, this study assesses the effect of augmenting pre-existing calcium supplementation, rather than the effect of a *de novo* intervention. This represents a very unusual study design which would probably not be contemplated in the context of a pharmaceutical trial. If dietary and supplement sources of calcium have the same biological effects, and if the dose–response is linear over the range of intakes studied, such a design may be acceptable. However, it would seem important to formally test these assumptions, which can be done by testing for an interaction between self-administration of calcium supplements at study entry and the effect of treatment allocation on cardiovascular risk. We have now undertaken these analyses using a protocol approved by the National Heart Lung and Blood Institute (in the NIH) prior to the database being provided to us, and have found that there is a statistically significant interaction, such that the hazard ratio for clinical myocardial infarction is 1.22 (1.00, 1.50) in women not self-administering calcium at baseline, in contrast to a hazard ratio of 0.92 (0.75, 1.13) in those taking non-protocol supplements. There is also a significant interaction for stroke (hazard ratios 1.17 and 0.83, respectively) and for the composite of clinical myocardial infarction or stroke (hazard ratios 1.16 and 0.88, respectively), the latter data being based on 708 events in the women not taking personal calcium supplements. Thus, when the analysis of the WHI is restricted to those not self-administering calcium, it shows the same increase vascular risk as we identified in trials of calcium monotherapy. In the remainder of the study cohort, the WHI data suggest that increasing the calcium dose does not increase the vascular risk further.

The WHI is not the only study with vascular event data following randomisation to CaD or placebo—this is also available from RECORD and from a smaller US study. Accordingly, we have carried out trial level meta-analyses of these three studies to quantify the effect of CaD on both myocardial infarction and stroke, finding relative risks of 1.21 (1.01, 1.44) and 1.20 (1.00, 1.43), respectively. These results do not suggest heterogeneity between trials of calcium monotherapy and trials of CaD, so it is appropriate to pool these databases to provide a comprehensive meta-analysis of the cardiovascular effects of calcium supplementation, with or without vitamin D.

These data are shown in Fig. 3 for myocardial infarction (upper panel), and stroke (lower panel). The patient level data are drawn from 24,869 subjects who suffered 631 incident myocardial infarctions, and the trial level data from 28,072 subjects suffering 676 events. The mean follow-up times were 5.9 and 5.7 years, respectively. Again we see the early separation of the calcium and placebo groups for myocardial infarction incidents, and the data from the WHI (excluding those who were using personal calcium at randomisation) shows essentially the same results on the Forrest plot as the other major studies, whether or not vitamin D formed part of the intervention. The hazard ratio for myocardial infarction is 1.26 (1.07, 1.47, P=0.005), and the relative risk 1.24 (1.07, 1.45, P=0.004). The stroke data are comprised of 669 events from the patient level analysis and 764 from the trial level data. Again, the between-groups difference for stroke develops later than one year, though there is more heterogeneity in the Forrest plot. The hazard ratio for stroke in the individual patient analysis is 1.19 (1.02, 1.39, P = 0.026) and the relative risk in the trial-level analysis is 1.15(1.00, 1.32, P = 0.055).

This larger database allows us to re-examine the balance of risk and benefit that comes from calcium with or without vitamin D. The addition of the WHI women reduces the mean age, since they were on average 10 years younger than the mean in our previous meta-analysis. Consequently, event rates are also reduced, so treating 1000 people with calcium with or without vitamin D for five years causes an additional six myocardial infarctions or strokes, and prevents three fractures. As in the older cohort, there is no net benefit from this intervention.

3.3. Recent studies

The size of the recent meta-analysis and the absence of major calcium trials underway at the present time, means that these findings are not going to substantially change in the next few years as a result of more data becoming available. However, several other papers published recently do merit comment.



Fig. 3. Patient-level meta-analyses of the effect of calcium supplements with or without vitamin D on cardiovascular events (left-hand panels) and corresponding trial-level meta-analyses (right-hand side). Patient-level data show the time-to-first event analyses for 24,869 participants in 5 trials of calcium supplements, and Women's Health Initiative (WHI) calcium and vitamin D (CaD) participants not taking personal calcium supplements at baseline. Trial-level analyses show data for 28,072 participants in 8 trials of calcium supplements where complete trial-level data were available, together with data for WHI CaD participants not taking personal calcium supplements at baseline. One study randomised participants to calcium, CaD, or placebo [48]. For this analysis, we pooled the outcomes from both the calcium and CaD arms. *Abbreviations*: Grant 2005 is the RECORD study calcium versus vitamin D plus placebo arms [49]. For mBolland et al. [50], used with permission.

The Western Australian group have recently published data on cardiovascular events in their RCT of calcium carbonate [27]. The self-reported data for myocardial infarction and stroke from this trial were included in our meta-analyses. Their new paper presents non-adjudicated hospital discharge data for a novel composite endpoint of 'atherosclerotic vascular mortality or first hospitalisation' which includes diagnoses as diverse as arrhythmias and heart failure. Since the concern to-date has been around myocardial infarction, and to a lesser extent stroke, the choice of this much broader endpoint will only serve to obscure any calcium effect that might be present since it includes events unlikely to be affected by the intervention. The adjusted hazard ratio for this endpoint is 0.94 with the upper end of the 95%CI extending to 1.28, which is quite consistent with the results of our meta-analyses, albeit for a more focussed endpoint. In subsequent correspondence [28] these authors have indicated that the relative risk for myocardial infarction is 1.00 (0.54–1.84) and for cerebrovascular disease excluding hemorrhagic stroke 1.10 (0.68–1.78), both results broadly consistent with the findings of our meta-analyses, but lacking the power to provide a definitive assessment of risk. The authors have not clearly explained why these data differ from the self-reported data previously published, but they have only taken the principal diagnosis from each hospital discharge record, so that vascular events occurring at the time of another illness are potentially lost. Also, further data presented in abstract form from this study indicate

that calcium supplements significantly increased risk of admission to hospital with abdominal problems [29]. Whether these events overlap with the trial subjects' self-report of heart attacks, whether there were dual pathologies in some of these admissions, or whether this represents a quite independent adverse effect of calcium supplementation is unclear at the present time.

Data relevant to this issue have recently appeared as a by-product of another Australian trial which studied a sunlight \pm calcium intervention [30]. Six hundred and two elderly residents of aged care facilities in Sydney were randomised to receive 30-40 min of sunlight exposure daily, with or without calcium supplementation (600 mg/day), or to act as controls. Comprehensive cardiovascular adverse event data are not available from this study, but, as a result of the mean age at study entry being 86 years, death certificate data are available in 218 subjects (more than one third of the total cohort) over a mean follow-up period of 2.4 years (see Table 1). These data demonstrate an increase in allcause mortality in the sunlight plus calcium group in comparison with the sunlight alone group. The excess mortality appeared to be principally cardiovascular. The sunlight-alone group fared rather better than the control group. This could be a chance finding, or could indicate that sunlight exposure itself is cardio-protective. These results, like those from the meta-analyses, suggest that quite short exposures to calcium supplements can produce significant changes in vascular event rates in those at high risk of vascular dis-

Table 1
Total and cardiovascular deaths in randomised trial of sunlight and calcium supplementation.

	Total (<i>N</i> =602)	Control (N=205)	UV (<i>N</i> =190)	UV + Ca (N=207)	Crude hazard ratio (95%CI)	Р	Sex- and age-adjusted hazard ratio (95%CI)	Р
Mean follow-up (days)	860	871	897	815				
Death cause								
All causes	218	75	58	85	1.48 (1.06, 2.07)	0.02	1.47 (1.05, 2.06)	0.02
MI	24	12	2	10	5.19 (1.13, 23.7)	0.03	5.39 (1.18, 24.7)	0.03
Stroke	46	16	13	17	1.32 (0.64, 2.73)	0.45	1.41 (0.68, 2.91)	0.35
MI or stroke	70	28	15	27	1.84 (0.98, 3.46)	0.06	1.94 (1.03, 3.66)	0.04
CVD	114	40	28	46	1.68 (1.05, 2.69)	0.03	1.76 (1.10, 2.82)	0.02

Data are from death certificates up to the end of the follow-up period, in a trial comparing daily sunlight exposure (UV) with or without calcium (Ca) supplementation (600 mg/day) over 12 months in the frail elderly. Hazard ratios and *P* values are for the comparison of the 2 groups randomised to sunlight exposure. Unpublished data from the study of Sambrook et al. [30]. MI = myocardial infarction; CVD = cardiovascular disease.

ease, and that effects on myocardial infarction are more profound than those on strokes.

3.4. Mechanisms of the calcium effect

The consistency of the clinical trial data throws up the challenge of explaining these surprising findings. Because of the obvious role of calcium deposition in the arterial wall in atherosclerosis, many have simply assumed that this is the product of calcium being transferred from the ingested supplement to the blood vessels. While this may be the case, other possibilities and intermediate mechanisms should be entertained. Calcium is a key cofactor in blood coagulation, and clot formation is a critical step in myocardial infarction, so subtle changes in the coagulability of blood following calcium ingestion could be involved. Blood clotting also is critically dependent on platelet function, and platelets have calcium sensing receptors, so might respond directly to changes in circulating calcium concentrations. The calcium sensing receptor is also expressed in blood vessel walls, so changes in endothelial cells or smooth muscle cells might be important. The process of arterial calcification is now recognised as being closely regulated by a number of inhibitors including pyrophosphate and fetuin-A. Increases in circulating calcium would be expected to lead to complexing of pyrophosphate, with a reduction in its capacity to inhibit vessel wall calcification. The effects of altered calcium levels on fetuin-A have not yet been explored. Much of the research carried out in this area has been in patients with renal failure where calcium supplements have been shown to increase mortality in dialysis patients [31] and also to accelerate coronary artery calcification in predialysis patients whose levels of renal impairment are comparable to those commonly seen in the elderly population provided with calcium supplements for osteoporosis prevention [32]. In dialysis patients, high levels of serum calcium are associated with higher mortality [33,34] and high-calcium dialysate has been associated with increased indices of inflammation, malnutrition and increased mortality [35]. The relevance of these findings to the elderly, nondialysed population remains to be determined.

However, there are also data in normal populations indicating that higher serum calcium levels within the normal range are associated with increased carotid plaque thickness [36], an increased likelihood of abdominal aortic calcification [37], increased risk of cardiovascular events [38–41], and increased mortality [42]. Ingestion of calcium supplements abruptly increases serum calcium for up to 6 h and the magnitude of these increases is comparable to differences in baseline serum calcium which have been found to be associated with adverse cardiovascular outcomes, in the studies just cited. Interestingly, serum calcium levels have also been shown to be associated with increased cardiovascular risk (based on glucose sensitivity and circulating lipids) in healthy adolescent Americans [43]. The increase in serum calcium following calcium supplement ingestion contrasts with the minimal effect of

calcium-rich foods on serum calcium. There is a similar contrast in population data for dietary calcium intake, where high intakes are not associated with increased cardiovascular risk, and sometimes with trends in the opposite direction [44]. Thus, there is no reason, based on present evidence, to extrapolate our concern regarding the use of calcium supplements to the intake of calcium-rich foods.

4. Conclusion

The consistent message from the meta-analyses of clinical trials is that calcium supplements probably carry a small but significant adverse effect on cardiovascular risk. Their beneficial effect on fractures is also small, so it is likely that there is no net benefit from their use. This suggests that we need to look elsewhere for strategies for preventing postmenopausal bone loss. Lifestyle interventions should include smoking cessation, weight maintenance, and moderation of alcohol intake. Encouragement of dietary calcium intake is reasonable, since the balance of current evidence does not demonstrate a cardiovascular risk associated with calcium from food, although there is little compelling evidence that dietary calcium intake is associated with subsequent fracture risk. In individuals who have a fracture risk which justifies pharmaceutical intervention, then the use of bisphosphonates without calcium supplements has been shown to produce comparable changes in bone density [45,46] and fractures [47] to those found with a combined intervention of calcium and bisphosphonate.

There is an urgent need for more research to gain insight into the mechanisms of the adverse vascular effect of calcium, since this might lead to strategies for circumventing it. However, it is inappropriate to delay changes in clinical practice pending the arrival of more research data, because the current meta-analyses are based on 29,000 study participants and more than 160,000 subject-years of data, and there are few studies of calcium supplementation of any size underway at the present time. Therefore, data to be presented in the next few years will impact minimally on the currently available results.

Contributors

The article was drafted by IRR, then critically revised by the other authors.

Conflict of interests

IRR has received research support from and acted as a consultant for Fonterra and had study medications for clinical trials of calcium supplementation supplied by Mission Pharmacal. The other authors have no conflicts.

Provenance and peer review

Commissioned and externally peer reviewed.

References

- Thacher TD, Fischer PR, Pettifor JM, et al. A comparison of calcium, vitamin D, or both for nutritional rickets in Nigerian children. N Engl J Med 1999;341: 563–8.
- [2] McVeigh JA, Norris SA, Pettifor JM. Bone mass accretion rates in pre- and earlypubertal South African black and white children in relation to habitual physical activity and dietary calcium intakes. Acta Paediatr 2007;96:874–80.
- [3] Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Kiel DP, Dawson-Hughes B, et al. Dietary calcium and serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D status in relation to BMD among US adults. J Bone Miner Res 2009;24:935–42.
- [4] Lloyd T, Petit MA, Lin HM, Beck TJ. Lifestyle factors and the development of bone mass and bone strength in young women. J Pediatr 2004;144: 776–82.
- [5] Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Dawson-Hughes B, Baron JA, et al. Calcium intake and hip fracture risk in men and women: a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies and randomized controlled trials. Am J Clin Nutr 2007;86:1780–90.
- [6] Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Dawson-Hughes B, Baron JA, et al. Milk intake and risk of hip fracture in men and women: a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. J Bone Miner Res 2011;26:833–9.
- [7] Tang BMP, Eslick GD, Nowson C, Smith C, Bensoussan A. Use of calcium or calcium in combination with vitamin D supplementation to prevent fractures and bone loss in people aged 50 years and older: a meta-analysis. Lancet 2007;370:657–66.
- [8] Reid IR, Mason B, Horne A, et al. Randomized controlled trial of calcium in healthy older women. Am J Med 2006;119:777–85.
- [9] Chapuy MC, Arlot ME, Duboeuf F, et al. Vitamin D3 and calcium to prevent hip fractures in the elderly women. N Engl J Med 1992;327:1637–42.
- [10] Abrahamsen B, Masud T, Avenell A, et al. Patient level pooled analysis of 68 500 patients from seven major vitamin D fracture trials in US and Europe–art. no. b5463. Br Med J 2010;340(January):B5463.
- [11] Reid IR, Bolland MJ, Grey A. Effect of calcium supplementation on hip fractures. Osteoporos Int 2008;19:1119–23.
- [12] Tang BMP. Does calcium supplementation really cause more hip fractures? Osteoporos Int 2009;20:833–4.
- [13] Reid IR, Ames R, Mason B, et al. Randomized controlled trial of calcium supplementation in healthy, nonosteoporotic, older men. Arch Int Med 2008;168:2276–82.
- [14] Dawson-Hughes B, Harris SS, Krall EA, Dallal GE. Effect of calcium and vitamin D supplementation on bone, density in men and women 65 years of age or older. N Engl J Med 1997;337:670–6.
- [15] Reid IR, Eastell R, Fogelman I, et al. A comparison of the effects of raloxifene and conjugated equine estrogen on bone and lipids in healthy postmenopausal women. Arch Int Med 2004;164:871–9.
- [16] Griffith LE, Guyatt GH, Cook RJ, Bucher HC, Cook DJ. The influence of dietary and nondietary calcium supplementation on blood pressure—an updated metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. Am J Hypertens 1999;12: 84–92.
- [17] Reid IR, Horne A, Mason B, Ames R, Bava U, Gamble GD. Effects of calcium supplementation on body weight and blood pressure in normal older women: a randomized controlled trial. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2005:90:3824–9.
- [18] Reid IR, Ames R, Mason B, et al. Effects of calcium supplementation on lipids, blood pressure, and body composition in healthy older men: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Clin Nutr 2010;91:131–9.
- [19] Denke MA, Fox MM, Schulte MC. Short-term dietary calcium fortification increases fecal saturated fat content and reduces serum lipids in men. J Nutr 1993;123:1047-53.
- [20] Reid IR, Mason B, Horne A, et al. Effects of calcium supplementation on serum lipid concentrations in normal older women: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Med 2002;112:343–7.
- [21] Marque S, Jacqmin-Gadda H, Dartigues JF, Commenges D. Cardiovascular mortality and calcium and magnesium in drinking water: an ecological study in elderly people. Eur J Epidemiol 2003;18:305–9.
- [22] Elwood PC, Pickering JE, Hughes J, Fehily AM, Ness AR. Milk drinking, ischaemic heart disease, ischaemic stroke II. Evidence from cohort studies. Eur J Clin Nutr 2004;58:718–24.
- [23] Bostick RM, Kushi LH, Wu Y, Meyer KA, Sellers TA, Folsom AR. Relation of calcium, vitamin D, and dairy food intake to ischemic heart disease mortality among postmenopausal women. Am J Epidemiol 1999;149:151–61.
- [24] Bolland MJ, Barber PA, Doughty RN, et al. Vascular events in healthy older women receiving calcium supplementation: randomised controlled trial. BMJ 2008;336:262–6.

- [25] Bolland MJ, Avenell A, Baron JA, et al. Effect of calcium supplements on risk of myocardial infarction and cardiovascular events: meta-analysis. BMJ 2010;341:C3691.
- [26] Hsia J, Heiss G, Ren H, et al. Calcium/vitamin D supplementation and cardiovascular events. Circulation 2007;115:846–54.
- [27] Lewis JR, Calver J, Zhu K, Flicker L, Prince RL. Calcium supplementation and the risks of atherosclerotic vascular disease in older women: results of a 5-year RCT and a 4.5-year follow-up. J Bone Miner Res 2011;26:35–41.
- [28] Lewis JR, Calver J, Zhu K, Flicker L, Prince RL. Response to calcium supplements and cardiovascular risk. J Bone Miner Res 2011;26:900–1.
- [29] Lewis JR, Zhu K, Prince RL. Errors in self-reported myocardial infarction in calcium intervention studies. In: Proceedings of the Australian & New Zealand Bone & Mineral Society Annual Scientific Meeting P17. 2010.
- [30] Sambrook PN, Cameron ID, Chen JS, et al. Does increased sunlight exposure work as a strategy to improve vitamin D status in the elderly: a cluster randomised controlled trial. Osteoporos Int; in press, doi:10.1007/s00198-011-1590-5.
- [31] Block GA, Raggi P, Bellasi A, Kooienga L, Spiegel DM. Mortality effect of coronary calcification and phosphate binder choice in incident hemodialysis patients. Kidney Int 2007;71:438–41.
- [32] Russo D, Miranda I, Ruocco C, et al. The progression of coronary artery calcification in predialysis patients on calcium carbonate or sevelamer. Kidney Int 2007;72:1255–61.
- [33] Floege J, Kim J, Ireland E, et al. Serum iPTH, calcium and phosphate, and the risk of mortality in a European haemodialysis population. Nephrol Dialysis Transplant 2010.
- [34] Miller JE, Kovesdy CP, Norris KC, et al. Association of cumulatively low or high serum calcium levels with mortality in long-term hemodialysis patients. Am J Nephrol 2010;32:403–13.
- [35] Hsu CW, Lin JL, Lin-Tan DT, et al. High-calcium dialysate: a factor associated with inflammation, malnutrition and mortality in non-diabetic maintenance haemodialysis patients. Nephrology 2010;15:313–20.
- [36] Rubin MR, Rundek T, McMahon DJ, Lee H-S, Sacco RL, Silverberg SJ. Carotid artery plaque thickness is associated with increased serum calcium levels: the Northern Manhattan study. Atherosclerosis 2007;194:426–32.
- [37] Bolland MJ, Wang TKM, van Pelt NC, et al. Abdominal aortic calcification on vertebral morphometry images predicts incident myocardial infarction. J Bone Miner Res 2010;25:505–12.
- [38] Lind L, Skarfors E, Berglund L, Lithell H, Ljunghall S. Serum calcium: a new, independent, prospective risk factor for myocardial infarction in middle-aged men followed for 18 years. J Clin Epidemiol 1997;50:967–73.
- [39] Foley RN, Collins AJ, İshani A, Kalra PA. Calcium-phosphate levels and cardiovascular disease in community-dwelling adults: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study. Am Heart J 2008;156:556–63.
- [40] Jorde R, Sundsfjord J, Fitzgerald P, Bonaa KH. Serum calcium and cardiovascular risk factors and diseases: the Tromso study. Hypertension 1999;34:484–90.
- [41] Slinin Y, Blackwell T, Ishani A, Cummings SR, Ensrud KE. Serum calcium, phosphorus and cardiovascular events in post-menopausal women. Int J Cardiol; in press.
- [42] Leifsson BG, Ahren B. Serum calcium and survival in a large health screening program. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1996;81:2149–53.
- [43] Williams DM, Fraser A, Lawlor DA. Associations of vitamin D, parathyroid hormone and calcium with cardiovascular risk factors in US adolescents. Heart 2011;97:315–20.
- [44] Kaluza J, Orsini N, Levitan EB, Brzozowska A, Roszkowski W, Wolk A. Dietary calcium and magnesium intake and mortality: a prospective study of men. Am J Epidemiol 2010;171:801–7.
- [45] Bonnick S, Broy S, Kaiser F, et al. Treatment with alendronate plus calcium, alendronate alone, or calcium alone for postmenopausal low bone mineral density. Curr Med Res Opin 2007;23:1341–9.
- [46] Grey A, Bolland M, Wattie D, et al. Prolonged antiresorptive activity of zoledronate: a randomized, controlled trial. J Bone Miner Res 2010;25:2251–5.
- [47] McCloskey EV, Beneton M, Charlesworth D, et al. Clodronate reduces the incidence of fractures in community-dwelling elderly women unselected for osteoporosis: results of a double-blind, placebo-controlled randomized study. J Bone Miner Res 2007;22:135–41.
- [48] Lappe JM, Travers-Gustafson D, Davies KM, Recker RR, Heaney RP. Vitamin D and calcium supplementation reduces cancer risk: results of a randomized trial. Am J Clin Nutr 2007;85:1586–91.
- [49] Grant AM, Avenell A, Campbell MK, et al. Oral vitamin D3 and calcium for secondary prevention of low-trauma fractures in elderly people (Randomised Evaluation of Calcium Or vitamin D, RECORD): a randomised placebocontrolled trial. Lancet 2005;365:1621–8.
- [50] Bolland MJ, Grey A, Avenell A, Gamble GD, Reid IR. Calcium/vitamin D supplements and cardiovascular events: a re-analysis of the Women's Health Initiative limited-access dataset, and meta-analysis of calcium with or without vitamin D. BMJ 2011;342:d2040.